THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
Apr 22 2022
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas,

Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court

Appellate Case No. 2021-001137

Jennings-Dill, Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

Eric Israel,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Matthew R. Ozment (#80072)
GROVE OZMENT, L.L.C.
Email: Matt@go-lawyers.com
100 Williams Street
Greenville, SC 29601
864-516-2266
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY ISSUING A TEMPORARY INJUNCTION BY FINDING RESPONDENT HAD A LIKELIHOOD TO SUCCEED ON THE MERITS WHERE NO FACTS SUPPORT THAT APPELLANT POSSESSED OR MISAPPROPRIATED RESPONDENT'S TRADE SECRET OR CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY ISSUING A TEMPORARY INJUNCTION BY FINDING RESPONDENT HAD A LIKELIHOOD TO SUCCEED ON THE MERITS WHERE THE COURT EXCLUSIVELY RELIED ON HEARSAY AND SPECULATIVE STATEMENTS IN AFFIDAVITS OUTSIDE THE AFFIANT'S PERSONAL KNOWLEDGE TO FIND APPELLANT SOLICITED RESPONDENT'S EMPLOYEES?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY IMPROPERLY "BALANCING THE EQUITIES" BETWEEN THE PARTIES BY COMPARING THE ALLEGED HARM TO EACH PARTY TO SUPPORT ISSUANCE OF THE TEMPORARY INJUNCTION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February July 20, 2021, Jennings-Dill, Inc. ("Jennings-Dill") brought this action alleging conversion, breach of duty of loyalty, breach of fiduciary duty, violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, S.C. Code § 39-5-10 *et seq.*, misappropriation of trade secrets under the South Carolina Trade Secrets Act, S.C. Code § 39-8-10 *et seq.*, civil conspiracy, unjust enrichment/quantum meruit, and tortious interference with contractual relations. (R.pp. 017-034).

On the same day, Jennings-Dill filed a Plaintiff's Notice of Motion and Motion for Temporary Injunction (the "Motion"). (R.pp. 071-76). Jennings-Dill filed a memorandum in support of the Motion on July 29, 2021, along with supporting affidavits including the affidavit of Andy Locklair. (R.pp. 077-115). On August 2, 2021, Eric Israel filed Defendant's Opposition to Plaintiff along with supporting affidavits from himself and Scottie Strickland. (R.pp. 116-

134). Jennings-Dill then filed a supplemental affidavit signed by Andy Locklair on the same day. (R.pp. 135-150).

On August 4, 2021, a hearing was held on the Motion in front of the Honorable Alex J. Kinlaw Jr. No testimony was taken; the affidavits were the only sworn statements in the record. Judge Kinlaw issued a Form 4 Order directing both parties to submit proposed orders. (R.pp. 002-005). After submission of the proposed orders, Judge Kinlaw issued the order (the “Order”) now subject to this appeal on September 9, 2021, granting the Motion and issuing a temporary injunction. (R.pp. 006-0016).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The grant of an injunction is reviewed for abuse of discretion.” *Hook Point, LLC v. Branch Banking & Trust Co.*, 397 S.C. 507, 725 S.E.2d 681 (S.C. 2012). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the decision of the trial court is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” *Id.* (quoting *Peek v. Spartanburg Reg'l Healthcare Sys.*, 367 S.C. 450, 454, 626 S.E.2d 34, 36 (Ct. App.2005)).

FACTS

Appellant Eric Israel worked at Jennings-Dill for approximately 11 years as an at-will employee with no restrictive covenants. Israel started as a plumber and was eventually promoted to foreman and then superintendent. (R.p. 126, Israel Aff. ¶ 3). As with many professions, there is currently a labor shortage for plumbers resulting in a market-wide rise in wages. (R.p. 126, Israel Aff. ¶ 5). Mr. Israel repeatedly raised to Jennings-Dill that they were paying below market rates and needed to raise wages to retain employees. (R.p. 126, Israel Aff. ¶¶ 4,6). Mr. Israel also requested a raise for himself to remain at a fair wage. (R.p. 126, Israel Aff. ¶ 6). On June 13,

2021, Mr. Israel sent an email to Jennings- Dill’s management giving notice of his resignation effective July 8, 2021. (R.p. 126, Israel Aff. ¶ 6). At that time, he did not have any offers of employment and resigned out of frustration over the low compensation being paid to those he supervised and himself. (R.p. 126, Israel Aff. ¶ 6).

On June 24, 2021, Andy Locklair, Vice President of Operations for Jennings-Dill, and Israel spoke on the phone regarding Israel’s resignation scheduled for July 8, 2021. (R.p. 126, Israel Aff. ¶ 7; R.pp. 078-79, Locklair Aff. ¶¶ 1, 9-10). The parties dispute whether Israel resigned on this phone call. Locklair averred that Israel resigned. (R.p. 078, Locklair Aff. ¶ 9.) Israel averred that he was terminated by Locklair the following morning and told he did not need to work through July 8, 2021. (R.p. 126, Israel Aff. ¶ 7.) Regardless, on June 25, 2021, Mr. Israel received an email stating that he was terminated immediately and could not work out the remainder of his notice period. (R.p. 126, Israel Aff. ¶ 7). At that time, Mr. Israel did not have a job lined up and was unemployed due to being terminated without warning. (R.p. 126, Israel Aff. ¶ 8). Mr. Israel was hired by Place Services, Inc. (“PSI”) on July 6, 2021. (R.p. 127, Israel Aff. ¶ 9).

Also on the evening of June 24, 2021, Anthony Driggers, a plumber with Jennings-Dill, inquired with Mr. Israel about a raise he had been promised. (R.p. 127, Israel Aff. ¶ 10). During the conversation, Mr. Israel opened Sharepoint on his company issued iPad to check Mr. Driggers’ current pay rate. (R.p. 127, Israel Aff. ¶ 11). The file he initially tried to open failed to open on the iPad due to its large size. (R.p. 127, Israel Aff. ¶ 11). Mr. Israel then tried to open the file again. Finally, he tried a different file to check Mr. Driggers’ payrate. (R.p. 127, Israel Aff. ¶ 11). None of files showed Mr. Drigger’s payrate. (*Id.*) These three files were named “Personnel Report,” “Personnel Report Jan 2021 - Dec 2021,” and “JD Employee List.” (R.p. 081, Locklair

Aff. ¶¶ 20-23.) These three files are the alleged trade secret and confidential information upon which this case is based. Mr. Locklair was aware Israel had accessed these files on the morning of June 25, 2021. (R.p. 081, Locklair Aff. ¶¶ 18-20.) Mr. Israel returned the iPad to Jennings-Dill on the same morning. (R.p. 127, Israel Aff, ¶ 13). Mr. Israel didn't misappropriate, take, copy, or otherwise retain any the files he viewed on the iPad. (R.p. 127, Israel Aff, ¶ 12). Mr Israel has not possessed any confidential or trade secret information belonging to Jennings-Dill since he returned the iPad to Jennings-Dill on June 25, 2021, and never provided such information to any other entity including PSI. (R.p. 127, Israel Aff. ¶¶ 12-14).

Mr. Israel started with PSI on July 6, 2021. Sometime later, Scottie Strickland, a Jennings- Dill employee, contacted Mr. Israel to ask if PSI was hiring because he was leaving Jennings- Dill.¹ (R.p. 127, Israel Aff ¶ 15; R.p. 133, Strickland Aff. ¶¶ 7-8). Mr. Israel did not solicit any Jennings-Dill employee to leave their position, nor has he offered any jobs to any Jennings-Dill employees. (R.p. 127, Israel Aff. ¶ 16).

ARGUMENTS

- I. BECAUSE NO EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED TO SHOW THAT APPELLANT POSSESSED OR MISAPPROPRIATED RESPONDENT'S TRADE SECRET OR CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ISSUING A TEMPORARY INJUNCTION BY FINDING RESPONDENT HAD A LIKELIHOOD TO SUCCEED ON THE MERITS.

The court erred by finding Jennings-Dill had a likelihood of success on the merits despite the record not containing any evidence Israel possessed or misappropriated any trade secret or other confidential information belonging to Jennings-Dill. "The remedy of injunction is a drastic one and should be cautiously applied only when legal rights are unlawfully invaded or legal

¹ Israel previously discouraged Strickland from leaving Jennings-Dill. (R.p. 133, Strickland Aff. ¶ 5).

duties are willfully or wantonly neglected.” *LeFurgy v. Long Cove Club Owners Ass'n*, 313 S.C. 555,443 S.E.2d 577, 578 (Ct. App. 1994); *Carter v. Lake City Baseball Club*, 218 S.C. 255, 62 S.E.2d 470 (1950). A preliminary injunction should be issued when it is necessary “to preserve the status quo ante.” *Hook Point, LLC*, 397 S.C. at 511, 725 S.E.2d at 683. Under South Carolina law, to obtain a preliminary injunction, a plaintiff must show: (1) irreparable harm; (2) a likelihood success on the merits; and (3) an inadequate remedy at law. *Richland Cty. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 422 S.C. 292, 310, 811 S.E.2d 758, 767 (2018) (citing *Denman v. City of Columbia*, 387 S.C. 131, 140, 691 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2010)). “A trial court may consider a case’s merit to the extent necessary to determine whether a temporary injunction should issue.” *Greenville Bistro, LLC v. Greenville Cnty.*, Appellate Case Nos. 2017-001747 and 2018-001393 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed December 8, 2021) (quoting *Curtis v. State*, 345 S.C. 557, 577, 549 S.E.2d 591, 601 (2001)).

Jennings-Dill sought an injunction based on its causes of action brought under the South Carolina Trade Secrets Act, the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, and claims for unjust enrichment and conversion. (R.pp. 100-105, Jennings-Dill Memo in Support pgs. 13-18). Each of these claims relies on Jennings-Dill’s allegations that Israel misappropriated three electronic files containing what are alleged to be trade secrets belonging to Jennings-Dill. (*Id.*; R.pp. 19-34, Complaint ¶¶ 20-24; 40-41 [conversion]; 57-60 [South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act]; 74-78 [South Carolina Trade Secrets Act]; 98 [unjust enrichment]). Israel is not under any non-solicitation agreement with Jennings-Dill. The factual nexus for the injunction fully rests on the allegation that Israel took the three files containing confidential information on July 24, 2021.

“Because injunctive relief is a drastic remedy, a lower court must clearly communicate the reasoning behind its decision to issue an injunction.” *Greenville Bistro, LLC v. Greenville Cnty.*,

Appellate Case Nos. 2017-001747 and 2018-001393 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed December 8, 2021) (citing Rule 65(d), SCRPC (“Every order granting an injunction . . . shall set forth the reasons for its issuance; shall be specific in terms; shall describe in reasonable detail, and not by reference to the complaint or other document, the act or acts sought to be restrained”). The court found that Israel downloaded three files containing confidential and trade secret information on June 24, 2021, onto Jennings-Dill’s iPad. (R.pp. 008-9 Order ¶¶ 7-8). The court then summarily concluded without any factual support that Israel misappropriated the three files and subsequently used them to solicit employees for his new employer. The court found Israel “apparent[ly] use[d]” the three downloaded files to solicit Jennings-Dill employees. (R.pp. 009-10, Order ¶ 13). The record contains no support for these assumptions.

Jennings-Dill failed to put forward any evidence that Appellant possessed or misappropriated any trade secret or other confidential information belonging to Jennings-Dill outside of his company issued iPad. Jennings-Dill alleges that Appellant misappropriated or converted three files accessed on a company-issued iPad between 8:53 and 8:55 pm on June 24, 2021. (R. pp. 21-22, Complaint ¶¶ 20-24). None of the affidavits filed by Jennings-Dill state that Mr. Israel ever copied, downloaded, or otherwise removed these files from Jennings-Dill’s iPad, which was promptly returned to Jennings-Dillon June 25, 2021, as requested by Andy Sinclair. (R.pp. 126, 128-130, Israel Aff. ¶ 7, Ex. A). The record does not contain a single piece of evidence to show that Israel possessed any of these three files since he returned the iPad on June 25, 2021.

The only evidence in the record before the court regarding the three files after June 24, 2021 was the sworn affidavit of Israel which stated that he did not misappropriate any of Jennings-Dill’s files at any time and has not possessed any confidential or trade secret

information since he returned his iPad to Jennings-Dill on June 25, 2021. (R.p. 127, Israel Aff. ¶¶ 12-14). Israel averred he has not ever provided any individual or entity including his current employer any confidential or trade secret information belonging to Jennings-Dill. (*Id.*) The court made no mention of this evidence in its Order and instead summarily ruled the three files were “apparent[ly]” misappropriated without any evidentiary support. (R.pp. 009-10, Order ¶ 13.)

II. BECAUSE THE COURT EXCLUSIVELY RELIED ON HEARSAY AND SPECULATIVE STATEMENTS IN AFFIDAVITS TO FIND APPELLANT SOLICITED RESPONDENT’S EMPLOYEES, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ISSUING A TEMPORARY INJUNCTION BY FINDING RESPONDENT HAD A LIKELIHOOD TO SUCCEED ON THE MERITS.

The court erred in relying on hearsay statements in affidavits to find that Israel was soliciting Jennings-Dill employees. The court found that Israel had “apparent[ly] use[d]” the three downloaded files to solicit Jennings-Dill employees. (R.pp. 009-10, Order ¶ 13). The court erred by relying solely on the hearsay and speculative statements in Andy Locklair’s affidavits to prove the truth regarding the solicitation of its employees to support an injunction. Courts may not rely on statements in affidavits that lack personal knowledge or are hearsay to establish a fact. *Englert, Inc. v. Netherlands Ins. Co.*, 315 S.C. 300, 303, 433 S.E.2d 871, 873 (Ct. App. 1993); *Jones v. Doe*, 372 S.C. 53, 62, 640 S.E.2d 514, 519 (Ct. App. 2006) (hearsay improper in affidavit and does not satisfy personal knowledge requirement)); *see also Fairfield Resorts, Inc. v. Fairfield Mountains Prop. Owners Ass’n, Inc.*, CIV. 1:06-cv-191, 2007 WL 186537 (W.D.N.C. Jan. 22, 2007) (“Plaintiff’s injunction is based purely on hearsay and speculation by Duncan which is insufficient to establish Plaintiff’s need for an injunction.”) (citing *Atari Games Corp. v. Nintendo of Am., Inc.*, 897 F.2d 1572, 1575 (Fed. Cir. 1990) (a trial court “should be wary of issuing an injunction based solely upon allegations and conclusory affidavits submitted

by plaintiff.”).

Jennings-Dill submitted two affidavits from Andy Locklair to support its position Israel solicited Jennings-Dill employees. These were the only evidence in the record to support the court’s finding of wrongful solicitation by Israel. Mr. Locklair’s affidavits rely on hearsay statements and Mr. Locklair’s personal speculation. Jennings-Dill did not submit *any* direct evidence of solicitation by Mr. Israel. Locklair’s affidavits do not contain any personal knowledge of solicitation by Mr. Israel. Mr. Locklair stated it was his “understanding” that Israel was collaborating with another former Jennings-Dill employee to solicit employees. (R.p. 82, Locklair Aff. ¶ 29.) Locklair swore “it seems logical” the two were working together and he “believed it will be clear” after discovery. (R.p. 83, Locklair Aff. ¶ 34.) Locklair stated he has “received reports” of Israel entering Jennings-Dill jobsites to solicit employees. (R.p. 83, Locklair Aff. ¶ 35.) Locklair specifically cited that Scottie Strickland, a former Jennings’s Dill employee now at PSI, had “told” [Jennings-Dill] that he and his brother were solicited by Israel. (R.p. 83, Locklair Aff. ¶ 36.) Locklair swore that Strickland “told our Operations Manager” this information, who presumably then told Locklair. (R.p. 139, Locklair Supplemental Aff. ¶ 23.) This is contrary to Strickland’s own affidavit also before the court. (R.pp. 133-34, Strickland Aff.). Locklair stated he was “aware” of Israel soliciting four other employees but did not identify who these employees were or how he had the information. (R.p. 83, Locklair Aff. ¶ 36) Finally, Locklair stated without any factual evidence he “believe[s] we will find out that most of [plumbers who left Jennings-Dill] have gone to work for PSI.” (R.p. 85, Locklair Aff. ¶ 41) These statements lack personal knowledge and are purely speculative. Such statements are not sufficient to support the issuance of an injunction.

In contrast to Locklair’s affidavits, Israel submitted direct evidence to the court in an

affidavit swearing that he has not solicited any Jennings-Dill employee to leave Jennings-Dill or to join PSI. (R.p. 125-131, Israel Aff.) Also in the record was the affidavit of Scottie Strickland stating that he was *not* solicited by Mr. Israel and that he in fact reached out to Mr. Israel seeking employment at PSI. (R.pp. 133-34, Strickland Aff.) The court erred by relying on hearsay and speculative statements in Locklair’s affidavits over the direct evidence provided by Israel when it issued the injunction.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY IMPROPERLY “BALANCING THE EQUITIES” BETWEEN THE PARTIES BY COMPARING THE ALLEGED HARM TO EACH PARTY TO SUPPORT ISSUANCE OF THE TEMPORARY INJUNCTION.

The court improperly weighed the relative harms to each party to determine if an injunction was warranted. The Supreme Court of South Carolina has explicitly held “balancing the equities” is “neither necessary nor appropriate in a preliminary injunction case....” *Poynter Invs. Inc. v. Century Builders of Piedmont, Inc.*, 387 S.C. 583, 694 S.E.2d 15, 159 Lab.Cas. P 61 (2010). The *Poynter Invs. Inc.* Court held that “the balancing requirement is subsumed by the irreparable harm and inadequate remedy at law components of the three-part test.” *Id.*

In the case at bar, the court held the following in Paragraph 23 of its order:

Although this Court does not engage in a balancing test between the irreparable harm that Jennings-Dill would suffer in the absence of injunctive relief versus whatever harm Israel could suffer if the Court grants injunctive relief, it is appropriate for this Court, sitting in equity, to consider the impact on Israel. It appears that a grant of the relief Jennings-Dill seeks would have little impact on Israel.

(R.pp. 11-12, Order ¶ 23).

Despite the court’s attempted disclaimer, the court clearly did exactly what was forbidden in *Poynter Invs. Inc.* An injunction is an extraordinary and drastic remedy. *Hampton v. Haley*, 403 S.C. 395, 409, 743 S.E.2d 258, 265 (2013). The court issued this drastic remedy

by weighing the harm to potential Israel against the potential harm against Jennings-Dill. As noted in *Poynter*, such a test is not appropriate. Instead, Jennings-Dill, as the movant, was required to establish: (1) that it would suffer irreparable harm if the injunction were not granted; (2) was likely succeed on the merits of the litigation; and (3) there is an inadequate remedy at law. *AJG Holdings, LLC v. Dunn*, 382 S.C. 43, 51, 674 S.E.2d 505, 509 (Ct. App. 2009). The court's reliance on weighing the relative harms caused by the injunction or lack thereof is reversible error.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, this Court should reverse the judgment of the circuit court.