RECEIVED

Apr 25 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001137

JENNINGS-DILL, INC., Respondent,

v.

ERIC ISRAEL, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Phillip A. Kilgore
Christopher R. Thomas
OGLETREE, DEAKINS, NASH,
SMOAK & STEWART, P.C.
300 North Main Street, Suite 500
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 271-1300 (telephone)
(864) 235-8806 (facsimile)
phillip.kilgore@ogletree.com
christopher.r.thomas@ogletree.com

Attorneys for Respondent Jennings-Dill, Inc.

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

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ISSUED A TEMPORARY INJUNCTION AFTER ANALYZING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR TEMPORARY INJUNCTION, THE AFFIDAVITS ON FILE, THE MEMORANDA OF LAW SUBMITTED BY BOTH PARTIES, AND ORAL ARGUMENT.

A. Standards Applicable to the Issuance of a Temporary Injunction

In order for a court to grant a temporary injunction, “[t]he plaintiff’s complaint must allege facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for injunction and demonstrate it is reasonably necessary to protect the legal rights of the plaintiff pending in the action.” *AJG Holdings, LLC v. Dunn*, 382 S.C. 43, 50-51, 674 S.E.2d 505, 508 (Ct. App. 2009) (citing *Peek v. Spartanburg Reg’l Healthcare Sys.*, 367 S.C. 450, 454, 626 S.E.2d 34, 36 (Ct. App. 2005)). For a temporary injunction to be granted, the moving party must establish that: “(1) he would suffer irreparable harm if the injunction is not granted; (2) he will likely succeed on the merits of the litigation; and (3) there is an inadequate remedy at law.” *AJG Holdings, LLC*, 382 S.C. at 51, 674 S.E.2d at 508 (citing *Scratch Golf Co. v. Dunes W. Residential Golf Properties, Inc.*, 361 S.C. 117, 121, 603 S.E.2d 905, 908 (2004)).

“The plaintiff is not required to prove an absolute legal right when seeking a preliminary injunction, but the plaintiff must present a reasonable question as to the existence of such a right.” *AJG Holdings, LLC*, 382 S.C. at 51, 674 S.E.2d at 509 (citing *Peek*, 367 S.C. at 456, 626 S.E.2d at 37)). Upon a showing that the plaintiff is entitled to injunctive relief, “a temporary injunction will be granted without regard to the ultimate termination of the case on the merits.” *Id.* (quoting *Helsel v. City of N. Myrtle Beach*, 307 S.C. 29, 32, 413 S.E.2d 824, 826 (1992)). Whether to grant a temporary injunction is committed to the sound discretion of the judge who granted it. *Powell v. Immanuel Baptist Church*, 261 S.C. 219, 221, 199 S.E.2d 60, 61 (1973); *Fuller-Ahrens P’ship v. S.C. Dep’t of Highways & Pub. Transp.*, 311 S.C. 177, 182, 427 S.E.2d 920, 923 (Ct. App. 1993).

B. The Trial Court Properly Found That JDI Has a Likelihood of Success on the Merits

JDI’s Complaint and other evidence in the record before the Trial Court allege facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for injunctive relief, and to show that such relief is reasonably necessary to protect its legal rights pending the outcome of the action. Israel has not contested the Trial Court’s conclusion that JDI has satisfied two out of the three elements – namely (1) irreparable harm if the injunction is not granted and (3) inadequate remedy at law – to obtain injunctive relief. (*See generally*, Initial Brief of Appellant) (challenging only the finding that JDI has a likelihood of success on the merits).

Given that Israel has waived appellate review of the Trial Court’s findings on the first and third elements, JDI will focus its arguments only on the second element – JDI has a likelihood of success on the merits. *Hughes on behalf of Est. of Hughes v. Bank of Am. Nat’l Ass’n*, No. 2018-001443, 2021 WL 4770165, at *6 (S.C. Ct. App. Oct. 13, 2021) (“An argument made in a reply brief cannot present an issue to the appellate court if it was not addressed in the initial brief.”)

(quoting *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 692 (Ct. App. 2001)).

The Trial Court held that JDI has a likelihood of success on the merits of the claims for which it sought temporary injunctive relief. (R. pp. 12-14.) The claims for which JDI sought injunctive relief include: (1) misappropriation of trade secrets under the South Carolina Trade Secrets Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 39-8-10, *et seq.*; (2) unfair trade practices in violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 39-5-10, *et seq.*; (3) conversion; and (4) unjust enrichment/quantum meruit. For the reasons explained below, the Trial Court's Order should be affirmed.

Israel raises two arguments on appeal as to how the Trial Court purportedly erred in finding that JDI had a likelihood of success on the merits. First, Israel argues that “[t]he trial court erred by finding [JDI] had a likelihood of success on the merits despite the record not containing *any evidence* Israel possessed or misappropriated any trade secret or other confidential information belonging to [JDI].” (Initial Brief of Appellant at pp. 4-6, emphasis added.) Israel then submits that the Trial Court's finding is reversible because it relied “*exclusively*” on hearsay and speculative statements in affidavits. (*Id.* at pp. 7-9, emphasis added.) Israel's liberties with the record are easily discernable and should not disturb the Trial Court's legal and factual findings entitling JDI to a temporary injunction.

1. The Record Contains First-Hand Evidence Demonstrating That Israel Possessed and Misappropriated JDI's Trade Secret and Confidential Information

Israel asserts that “Jennings-Dill failed to put forward *any evidence* that Appellant possessed or misappropriated any trade secret or other confidential information belonging to Jennings-Dill.” (Initial Brief of Appellant at p. 6, emphasis added.) The record shows that JDI's

Electronic Property is entitled to protection. First, the Electronic Property constitutes “trade secret” information because it is a “compilation” of “information” that “derives independent economic value . . . from not being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable by proper means by the public or any other person who can obtain economic value from its disclosure.” *See* S.C. Code. Ann. § 39-8-20(5)(a)(i); R. pp. 82, 110. Second, JDI has implemented well-known procedures to maintain the secrecy of its Electronic Property. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 39-8-20(5)(a)(ii); R. pp. 80-82.

JDI’s confidential Electronic Property, including the pay rates of all its employees, are not known outside the Company, and such information allows JDI to remain competitive during the bidding process on which its business relies. As explained above, most of the business JDI receives comes from submitting bids. (R. pp. 109-10.) The bidding process involves JDI’s evaluation of the proposed project and specifications, projecting the cost of materials, projecting the hours of labor needed to complete the project, and assigning a blended hourly rate to the project. (*Id.*) In the case of a plumbing bid, the blended rate includes wage rates for plumber helpers, plumbers, plumbing foremen, plumbing superintendent, and the project manager. (*Id.*) JDI considers what it pays its employees to be highly confidential information because, in the hands of a competitor, it would place JDI at a competitive disadvantage, or give the competitor an unfair advantage. (R. p. 110.) If a competing business had access to the collective pay rates of JDI employees, it would be able to pull away JDI’s employees with wages above what JDI is paying, undermining its ability to competitively bid on projects. (*Id.*) In sum, JDI’s collective wage rates are confidential and unique, provide the Company with a competitive edge during the bidding process, and are kept confidential and are not available to the public. (*Id.*)

Given that such information is not known outside JDI, and it allows JDI to remain competitive during the bidding process, such information is properly considered a trade secret assuming reasonable efforts are in place to maintain its secrecy. *Hartsock v. Goodyear Dunlop Tires N. Am. Ltd.*, 422 S.C. 643, 650, 813 S.E.2d 696, 700 (S.C. 2018) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 39-8-20(5)(a)(ii)). Here, there is no doubt that JDI has made reasonable efforts to maintain the secrecy of its Electronic Property. JDI maintains strict policies that prohibit the unauthorized or misuse of its electronically-stored data. (R. pp. 79-80.) JDI permitted only a limited number of its employees, with whom it has confidence and trust, to access the Electronic property within its databases, and required those employees to sign acknowledgments agreeing not to misuse the data. (*Id.*)

The record also demonstrates that Israel misappropriated JDI's Electronic Property. "Misappropriate" includes acquiring a trade secret of another through improper means. S.C. Code Ann. § 39-8-20(2)(a). Specifically, on June 24, 2021, well after his normal working hours and shortly after JDI accepted his resignation, Israel logged onto the iPad issued by JDI, accessed JDI's electronic data storage, and downloaded JDI's confidential information. (R. pp. 79, 81, 137-38, 146.)¹ To be clear, Israel did not simply "access" or "view" JDI's Electronic Property; instead, he performed a "download" permitting him to transmit the confidential information to other sources. (R. pp. 137-38, 146.) In light of compelling evidence of Israel's misappropriation of JDI's trade secret information, the Trial Court properly issued a temporary injunction.

¹ Israel asserts that "the *only* evidence in the record" regarding JDI's Electronic Property is the affidavit of Israel, and that "[n]one of the affidavits filed by [JDI] state that Mr. Israel ever copied, *downloaded*, or otherwise removed these files from [JDI's] iPad (Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 6.) Clearly, that inaccurate assertion is based on a selective, blind-sided view of the record. (R. pp. 137-38, 146.)

2. Israel Has Used JDI's Electronic Property to Solicit Employees to Leave Their Employment With JDI and Go Work for a Competitor

Israel next asserts that the Trial Court erred in relying on the affidavits presented for the record. JDI has offered significant reliable evidence. As stated with specificity in the Complaint, Israel has used JDI's Electronic Property to solicit and recruit current and former JDI employees to come to work for PSI, a competitor of JDI. (R. pp. 23-24.) Additional evidence submitted to the Trial Court further demonstrates that, after resigning from his employment and downloading JDI's confidential Electronic Property, Israel has used JDI's Electronic Property to recruit JDI employees to PSI.²

At least four (4) JDI employees have witnessed Israel solicit JDI employees to leave JDI and to go work for PSI since he voluntarily ended his employment with JDI. (R. p. 83.) Two of those four employees have resigned from JDI. (*Id.*) One individual, Scottie Strickland, who is a former JDI Plumbing Foreman, resigned from JDI to work with Israel at PSI, after being nudged to do so by Israel. (R. p. 84.) Israel has also contacted four other JDI employees. (*Id.*) Israel solicited one of the individuals to leave employment with JDI, he probed another employee about a former JDI employees' non-compete agreement, he asked another JDI employee if he "needed anything" or if he could "help him," and he called another JDI employee's wife. (*Id.*) Israel used his own phone in some instances to contact these JDI employees and, presumably to cover his tracks, used his girlfriend's phone in the other instances. (*Id.*)

In the month following Israel's resignation, several other JDI plumbing employees resigned. Specifically, in July 2021 alone, nine other members of JDI's Plumbing Division resigned from their employment. (R. p. 84.) To JDI's surprise, most of these resignations were

² While discovery up to the time of this appeal has been limited, JDI is aware of numerous examples of Israel's solicitations, and more are sure to come as discovery develops.

tendered by relatively long-term JDI employees, none of whom had ever displayed any sort of dissatisfaction with their employment at JDI. (R. pp. 84-85.)

The allegations of the Complaint, bolstered by the testimony in affidavits submitted to the Trial Court, set forth facts sufficient to demonstrate that Israel has misappropriated JDI's confidential Electronic Property and solicited JDI employees to leave their employment for PSI. Yet, Israel argues the Trial Court erred by relying on hearsay statements. (Initial Brief of Appellant, pp. 7-9.) Indeed, what Israel is suggesting is that, even at this early pleading stage of the case, JDI must present evidence that would be admissible at trial. That is certainly not the standard:

The purpose of a preliminary injunction is merely to preserve the relative positions of the parties until a trial on the merits can be held. Given this limited purpose, and given the haste that is often necessary if those positions are to be preserved, a preliminary injunction is customarily granted on the basis of procedures that are less formal and evidence that is less complete than in a trial on the merits. A party thus is not required to prove his case in full at the preliminary-injunction hearing, and the findings of fact and conclusions of law made by a court granting a preliminary injunction are not binding at trial on the merits. A party thus is not required to prove his case in full at a preliminary-injunction hearing.

Univ. of Texas v. Camenisch, 451 U.S. 390, 395, 101 S. Ct. 1830, 1834 (1981). Indeed, affidavits based on belief or hearsay statements may be considered by trial courts in evaluating a request for preliminary injunctive relief. *G.G. ex rel. Grimm v. Gloucester Cty. Sch. Bd.*, 822 F.3d 709, 725-26 (4th Cir. 2016), *vacated and remanded on other grounds*, 137 S. Ct. 1239 (2017) (“Because preliminary injunction proceedings are informal ones designed to prevent irreparable harm before a later trial governed by the full rigor of usual evidentiary standards, district courts may look to, and indeed in appropriate circumstances rely on, hearsay or other inadmissible evidence when deciding whether a preliminary injunction is warranted.”); *see also Synthes USA, LLC v. Davis*, No. 4:17-CV-02879-RBH, 2017 WL 5972705, at *3 n.7 (D.S.C. Dec. 1, 2017) (rejecting argument

that supplemental affidavit “rife with hearsay” submitted in support of a motion for preliminary injunction should be disregarded because “it is permissible to consider hearsay evidence in ruling on a motion for a preliminary injunction.”).

Israel relies on cases for the incorrect proposition that courts may not rely on statements in affidavits that may constitute hearsay when deciding whether to issue a temporary injunction. (Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 7.) Two of those cases were issued in the context of motions for summary judgment and have no bearing on the issue present here.³ First, in *Englert, Inc. v. Netherlands Ins. Co.*, 315 S.C. 300, 303, 433 S.E.2d 871, 873 (Ct. App. 1993), this Court held that an affidavit, which failed to set forth the affiant’s knowledge or belief, or any basis for such knowledge or belief, amounts to inadmissible hearsay and cannot be relied on to establish the existence of a fact for the purposes of summary judgment. Likewise, in *Jones v. Doe*, 372 S.C. 53, 62, 640 S.E.2d 514, 519 (Ct. App. 2006), this Court found that hearsay testimony is insufficient for purposes of summary judgment.

JDI acknowledges the well-established rule that hearsay evidence, which is inadmissible at trial, cannot be considered on a motion for summary judgment. *Trustees of Erskine Coll. v. Cent. Mut. Ins. Co.*, 270 S.C. 118, 123, 241 S.E.2d 160, 163 (1978) (unsworn statements containing hearsay evidence are not to be considered in a motion for summary judgment); *Hall v. Fedor*, 349

³ In addition to the two cases referenced in this paragraph, Israel also relies on a third case from the Western District of North Carolina. (See Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 7) (citing *Fairfield Resorts, Inc. v. Fairfield Mountains Prop. Owners Ass’n Inc.*, 2007 WL 186537 (W.D.N.C. Jan. 22, 2007)). While the North Carolina District Court found the plaintiff failed to establish a need for an injunction by relying “purely” on hearsay and speculation, that decision was issued prior to, and is inconsistent with, the Fourth Circuit’s holding in *G.G. ex rel. Grimm v. Gloucester Cty. Sch. Bd.*, 822 F.3d at 726, noted above, and as followed by other courts in South Carolina. *Synthes USA, LLC*, 2017 WL 5972705 at *3; *S.C. Progressive Network Educ. Fund v. Andino*, 493 F. Supp. 3d 460, 466 (D.S.C. 2020). In any event, JDI relied on more than pure hearsay and speculation, as detailed above.

S.C. 169, 175-76, 561 S.E.2d 654, 657 (Ct. App. 2002) (hearsay that does not fall under any hearsay exception would be inadmissible at trial and is also inadmissible at the summary judgment stage). But JDI has not moved for summary judgment.

Instead, JDI has moved for and obtained a temporary injunction to preserve the status quo until a trial on the merits can occur. The Trial Court properly considered the information presented to it in issuing a temporary injunction. Israel seeks to impose the full rigors of the rules of evidence applicable to trials, or at least the heightened rules applicable to summary judgment, to apply with full force to the early informal stages of a preliminary injunction. Based on the above, that is not the correct standard and the Trial Court's Order should be affirmed.

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